No. 73508-0-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN RE THE MARRIAGE OF:

TINA M. SHIBLEY, Respondent

UEC 14 ZUIS

v.

ERIC R. SHIBLEY, Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

H. Michael Finesilver (fka Fields) Attorney for Appellant

207 E. Edgar Street Seattle, WA 98102 (206) 322-2060 W.S.B.A. #5495

I. Statement of the Case:

A. Parenting Issues:

The parties were married on May 6, 2008 in Nashville, Tennessee and were separated on April 26, 2013. (CP 21). They have one child Eric Ryan Shibley, Jr., age 4. (CP 25, 583). He will be referred to as "Ryan."

Eric Shibley, (hereafter to be referred to as "Eric") worked at all times pertinent here as a medical doctor. When they married, Tina Shibley (hereafter to be referred to as "Tina") was disabled due to a traumatic head injury, chronic depression and some suicide ideation. (CP 23, 1153). She suffered another head injury due to a car crash in November 2013. (CP 1291). She suffers severe migraine headaches which continued monthly after Ryan was born. (CP 954, 1199, 1366). As of the time of trial she was not allowed by the Department of Vocational Rehabilitation to work more than 10 hours per week. (RP 1323, and RP 1383).

When Ryan was 2 years old, the parties moved from the Lake Sammamish area to a mobile home in Marysville, Washington. (RP 957). While Eric would be at work, neighbors would often see Ryan wandering around the neighborhood and have to bring him back home. Within the cul de sac was a long steep cliff with no guard rail. (RP 975; trial exhibit 38). One of the neighbors, expressed concerns to Tina who answered that Ryan

could get around on his own. (RP 633-634). He would also walk around with unchanged, soiled, or leaky diapers. (RP 646). Tina admitted not only to spanking Ryan, but hitting him with a wooden spoon prior to separation. (RP 182, 632, 1318).

Eric provided 80% of Ryan's care when home from work every other week during the last year before separation when he worked in Wyoming (RP 962 and 977). Prior to that, he would often come home early after work because Tina was unable to care for him (RP 976-977).

On April 26, 2013 Tina separated. She took Ryan without prior warning. (RP 976). She did not tell Eric her address. During that first month father and son were able to see each other twice in a park with Tina. She did not need and did not seek a domestic violence protection order. (RP 1299). They made a commitment to see a counselor separately and then together. He was informed through the counselor that she was living in domestic violence shelter. Eric even attempted to obtain a writ of habeas corpus but the court refused to issue it (RP 988).

It would be another four months before Ryan could see or have any communication with his father. Eventually Eric ascertained their whereabouts, got her served with this proceeding and immediately sought a temporary parenting plan order, in a hearing that occurred on August 13,

2013. Tina made allegations of domestic violence against her by Eric that he denied. (RP 996).

The court entered a temporary order the morning of August 13, 2013 granting each parent equal overnight residential time with Ryan every other week, (Trial Exhibit 40). Eric's residential time did not occur in August as ordered because within hours after that order was entered, Tina obtained an ex parte domestic violence protection order prohibiting contact with Ryan in a Skagit County proceeding based upon the same allegations she had made against Eric. She did not inform the Skagit County Commissioner of the Snohomish County order entered earlier that day (RP 995; trial exhibit 83). Eventually, upon learning of what occurred in Snohomish County, the Skagit county commissioner quashed the domestic violence protection order. (RP 998 and 1360). Thus, the first time Ryan and his father had any contact since early May was not until September, 2013 (RP 997).

A guardian ad litem, Dr. Marnee Milner was appointed by the Snohomish County court. (RP 139). Ryan exhibited severe behavior problems by the time her evaluation was completed five months later. (CP 117). She did not assess what effect the loss of contact for several months

with his father had on Ryan or what impact it might have on his current behavior. (RP 381, 467).

Tina made two subsequent failed attempts to obtain domestic violence protection orders during the pendency the last of which was in September 2014, based upon the same pre-separation allegations. (RP 1361-1363). She renewed that request, sought supervised visits and domestic violence treatment orders at trial which were all denied (RP 1296; 1423-24; 1438).

At trial in March 2015, Dr. Milner, testified along various other experts on behalf of both parties including Tina's domestic violence support personnel. (RP 446 and 485) (CP 20).

By the time of trial Eric had moved to West Seattle to perform medical services for rest homes. (RP 217). The court awarded Tina sole decision-making authority, and Eric, residential time every other weekend from Friday through Sundays, face time privileges mid-week, and an equal sharing of the winter, mid-winter and spring breaks, and up to two weeks of vacation each summer. (CP 6-8). There were no restrictions placed upon his residential time.

Nevertheless, the trial court found him to have been neglectful and to have engaged in an abusive use of conflict that could endanger the child's psychological development. (CP 50-5). It did not do so as to Tina Shibley.

B. Property Division:

At the time of marriage, the couple entered into a prenuptial agreement under the law of Tennessee, which the trial court found valid and enforceable. (CP 21-22). Under that agreement property in both names has the effect of being joint and any property in his or her own name is the separate property of that party even if acquired during the marriage. (RP 1429; page 4 of trial exhibit 46). (RP 1429 - 1431). During the marriage they spent \$175,000 to purchase gold. During the separation Eric sold the gold for 42.9% of its purchase cost: \$75,000 (RP 1407). By stipulation reached during the trial the parties asked the court to determine how much of the sale proceeds derived from receipts in both names or as "walk-ins" and was asked to divide that amount as joint or community property accordingly. That totaled \$43,000 (RP 1407, 1432; exhibit 143).

The court did not honor the stipulation without stating a reason. It observed the sale was in violation of a restraining order. It awarded Tina 90% of the purchase cost of the community portion, rather than the fair market value and awarded a resulting judgment against Eric in Tina's

favor for \$102,302. (CP 22-23) The court found that their total community property net of debt was worth less than \$90,000. (CP 22-23).

C. Maintenance and Child Support:

At the time of trial Tina's rent and utilities were \$100 per month. Her phone bill was \$33.00 per month. Day Care was \$15 per month. Head Start was free. (RP 1387-1388). There was no evidence as to how much would be necessary to eliminate the need or entitlement to public assistance. Nor did she present any evidence as to what her expenses and those of Ryan would be if she were awarded sufficient maintenance and child support to go off public assistance.

The court awarded Tina Shibley \$4,000 per month in maintenance (CP 17) for three years, and \$3,000 per month in child support, more than double the standard calculation, plus 97% of uninsured therapy and other health costs, and educational expenses. (CP 36).

D. Attorney Fee Award:

The trial court admonished the behavior of Eric Shibley's attorney numerous times throughout the trial. Eventually she sanctioned him \$500 ordering payment to the N.W. Justice Project. (RP 421 and CP 15).

Tina's attorney fees were paid in full by an agency receiving federal grants. (RP 1430). And yet the court awarded all fees incurred on her behalf, \$113,000 against Eric. (CP 15 and May 15, 2015 OD 14).

II. Assignments of Error:

A. The Child Support Order:

- 1. Failing to Order The Standard Calculation of \$1,447.24 per month
- 2. Treating the amount ordered as an upward deviation
- 3. Justifying The Award of \$3,000 per month On Insufficient Findings

B. Attorney Fee Award

4. The Court Erred by failing to consider the fees paid through government subsidy and by failing to consider the total financial circumstances of the parties.

C. Property Division

- 5. Awarding Tina Shibley a Judgment of \$102,302,
 - a) By failing to weigh the factors required under RCW 26.09.080.
 - b) Basing the award upon purchase cost rather than fair market value; and,
 - c) By failing to implement the in court stipulation of the parties as to characterization and distribution; and,

d) By punishing Eric Shibley for misconduct.

D. The Parenting Plan Order

- Ordering Limitations On Eric Shibley Based Upon Non Existence Restrictions
- 7. Entering Findings Of Substantial Nonperformance Of Parenting Functions And Neglect and Abusive Use of Conflict Either Not Supported By Substantial Evidence or Insufficient To Justify Limitations.
- 8. Failing To Place Restrictions On The Mother's Conduct.
- 9. Authorizing Major Decisions That Are Beyond the Scope Permitted By RCW 26.09.187 (4) and (5).
- 10. Failing To Award Primary Residential Care And Sole Decision-Making To Eric Shibley

III. Argument:

A. The Property Division:

Whether a property division imposed by a trial court should be reversed depends upon whether the trial court abused its discretion. Abuse of discretion has been defined as a decision based upon untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. (See, *In re Marriage of Gillespie*, 89 Wa.App

390 at 399, 948 P.2d 1338 (1997). The court abused its discretion in four distinct ways.

The first is that, although a trial court has broad discretion under RCW 26.09.080, its decision must reflect that it considered, and did not merely pay lip service to all of the statutory factors. *In re the Marriage of Crosetto*, 82 Wash.App 545, 918 P.2d 954 (1996). Here, there is nothing in the record to indicate that the court considered any of the factors required of it under RCW 26.09.080. Its judgment award should be reversed and remanded for that reason alone.

The second was to base its award of \$102,301.46 upon the purchase cost of the community property gold rather than its fair market value. (4/1/15 O.D. 12). There was no evidence that the sale price obtained by Eric was less than fair market value.

Fair market value, both its increases and decreases, is the basis upon which property is to be valued in marital dissolution cases. See *Lucker v. Lucker*, 71 Wa 2d 165, at 168, 426 P.2d 081 (1967). The value must be current. *Mayo v. Mayo*, 75 Wa2d 35 at 39, 448 P.2d 926 (1968).

The trial court's determination of what property is separate and what is community was governed by the parties' prenuptial agreement which the court determined to be valid and enforceable. (4/1/15 O.D. 9;

CP 21-22). Under that agreement any property in the name of either party is deemed the separate property of that party and was treated accordingly by the trial court.

Trial exhibit 143 is comprised of all the purchase receipts totaling \$175,000. 42.9% of \$175,000 is \$75,075, some in Eric's name, some in Tina's name and some in no one's name and as "walk-ins". \$1334.00 was the cost of the gold purchased in Tina's name, 42.9% of which, \$486.48 is her separate property. \$62,846.34 of the gold was the cost purchased in Eric's name, 42.9% of which, \$26,961.00, is his separate property. The balance of the total receipts of the gold was properly characterized as community property. Their total cost to purchase was \$113,669 and sold at 42.9% of cost, or \$48,764. Her share of the community property sold should be a percentage of the \$48,764 of community gold sold, not a percentage of what the community gold cost to purchase, plus her separate share of \$486.48. The court's award must be reversed.

The third error was to fail to implement the stipulation of the parties on this issue reached during trial. That stipulation demonstrates that both parties treated the sales proceeds as a reflection of fair market value, by agreeing that the sales proceeds determined by the court to be community in nature was to be distributed to the parties. The in court

stipulation acknowledged that \$75,000 was what all the gold sold for, whether separate or community; that all receipts solely in each party's name be the separate property of that party; the remainder to be considered the community portion of the total sales proceeds. "So, whatever you consider to be community property, it only be considered at 42.9% of the purchase would be its value for the court to distribute." (RP 1407). The court's failure to honor that stipulation is an abuse of its discretion.

Finally the court erred by awarding her 90% of the community portion of what it cost to purchase for no other reason than to punish Eric for selling it in violation of a restraining order. (April 1, 2015 OD 11-12). RCW 26.09.090 expressly prohibits a trial court from rendering an award of property based upon misconduct. This constitutes reversible error. See *In re Marriage of Ayyad*, 110 Wash.App. 462, 38 P.3d 1033 (1980).

B. Attorney Fees: The Amount Awarded Was An Abuse of Discretion

1. The Court Failed To Weigh The Financial Circumstances of Each Party In Determining What Portion Of Fees, If Any, Should Be Paid By Eric Shibley

Attorney fees can only be awarded based upon statute, contract or some recognized ground in equity. *Dave Johnson Ins., Inc. v. Wright*, 167 Wash. App. 758, 275 P.3d 339 (2012) Intransigence is a recognized

ground in equity in marital dissolution cases. A blanket award of fees based upon intransigence can only be justified if there is a finding that the intransigence pervaded the entire proceeding. Otherwise, there must be findings as to specific acts of intransigence and what it cost the aggrieved party. (See, *In re Marriage of Bobbitt*, 135 Wash.App. 8, 144 P.3d 306 (2006).

Here there was no finding of intransigence and no finding that if it occurred, it pervaded the entire proceeding. There is nothing in the record that indicates that intransigence was considered. It was not argued. (April 1, 2015 O.D. 2 to 18 and CP 24-29).

The only other basis is RCW 26.09.140 which requires that the total financial circumstances of both parties be considered. *In re Marriage of Scanlon and Witrak*, 109 Wash.App. 167, 34 P.3d 877 (2001). The court found Eric's gross income to be \$16,500 per month. (CP 24. 35). After payment of \$4,000 per month in maintenance and \$3,000 per month in child support, he was left with approximately \$3,000 per month less \$1,500 per month in rent. (RP 1060). He owed attorney fees to his lawyer.

Tina had \$7,000 per month to pay \$100 per month in rent leaving her \$6,900 per month. She owes no fees to her attorney. Thus his financial

circumstances were in fact worse than hers going forward. Awarding all of the fees incurred on her behalf was therefore an abuse of discretion.

2. The Fees Paid On Tina Shibley's Behalf Should Have Been Deducted

Tina's attorney fees were paid by an agency that receives federal grants. (RP 1429-1430). The request for fees did not include a deduction for the fees already paid by that agency. The award of fees in effect paid them twice for the same thing.

Attorney Girard had been paid \$36,000 at \$90 an hour. That is ascertained by taking his request for \$80,000 at \$200 per hour which shows he put in 400 hours. \$90 per hour times 400 hours equals \$36,000. The same analysis with attorney Loge having been paid at \$125 per hour shows she worked 165 hours which equates to \$20,625. Thus the total fees unpaid, at \$200 per hour were \$56,375, \$44,000 to Gerard and \$12,375 to Loge. \$56,375 should be determined to be the unpaid fees.

C. Child Support:

1. An Amount In Excess of the Standard Calculation Where Incomes Exceed The Maximum Advisory Amount Are Not Deviations

The standard calculation in the trial court's order was \$1,447.24. (CP 36). The court awarded \$3,000 per month as an "upward deviation"

more than twice the standard calculation. (CP 36). A transfer payment in excess of the standard calculation is not a deviation where, as here, the combined net incomes of both parties exceed the maximum advisory level. (CP 34). *In re Marriage of Leslie*, 90 Wa App 796 at 804, 954 P.2d 330 (1998). The court erred in concluding it to be an upward deviation. (CP 36-37).

2. The Court's Findings Are Insufficient.

The standards which must be fulfilled to justify imposing an amount that exceeds the maximum advisory level where the court finds their combined net monthly income exceed \$12,000 per month have been defined by case law. They are that there must be findings that are not cursory, even if supported by the record. (*In re Marriage of McCausland*, 159 Wa 2d 607, 152 P.3d 101 (2007). Here the findings are cursory.

Furthermore, the court must consider and implement the factors under *In re the Marriage of Daubert*, 124 Wa.App 483, 99 P.3d 401 (2004) as required by our State Supreme Court in *McCausland supra* at 614 (2007). Under *Daubert supra*, a trial court was reversed for misapplying those factors as reflected by findings that the father has sufficient wealth, that the children need an additional amount to have a standard of living commensurate with their father and that they will

benefit by the opportunities available to them from the additional funds. Those findings were deemed insufficient as a result of which the trial court's decision was reversed. *Daubert*, supra at 407 (2004). The findings justifying the award here are virtual mirror images of those deemed legally insufficient under *Daubert*, supra at 407. (2004).

The court held: "The fact that the children will benefit by the opportunities available to them from additional funds is not the test for additional support. It is not enough that the funds might be spent on allowable or beneficial opportunities. The opportunities and expenditures ... must be both necessary and reasonable." *Daubert supra* at 407 (2004).

All child support orders create three separate components of a child support obligation, all governed by apportioning each party's share based upon their monthly incomes net of taxes. One category is called "special child rearing expenses". These include work related day care, educational, and extracurricular expenses (see RCW 26.19.080(3)). This type is addressed in section 3.15 of the child support order (CP 39) Eric also pays 97% of those costs.

The second category is uninsured health care costs. (See RCW 26.19.080(2). This type is addressed in section 3.19 of the child support order and include any therapy expenses for the child. (CP 42). These too

are apportioned between the parents based upon their net monthly incomes. Eric also pays 97% of those costs above and beyond the monthly transfer payment.

The third category is the monthly transfer payment under section 3.5 of the order. It covers all other child related expenses such as housing, food, clothing, etc. as required by RCW 26.19.080 (1). The amount is derived by apportioning, pro rata, based upon both parents' net monthly incomes, the cost attributed by the economic table to the costs of raising the child in the home of the parent with whom the child resides the majority of the time. (*In re Marriage of Hughes*, 11 Wash.App. 454, 524 P.2d 472 (1974). The resulting amount is known as the "standard calculation". (RCW 26.19. 011)(8).

Here, the court resorted to Ryan's need for behavioral therapy and educational support to justify a transfer payment of \$3,000 per month, which is more than twice the standard calculation, even though Eric is also ordered to pay 97% of Ryan's therapy and 97% of educational expenses in addition to the transfer payment. (CP 42). The decision must be reversed and the standard calculation imposed.

3. Court Erred In Determining The Standard Calculation Because It Failed To Deduct The

Mandatory Taxes To Derive Eric Shibley's Net Monthly Income.

Trial Exhibit 204 shows Eric Shibley's after tax income of \$10,747 per month as of October 2013. His March 2014 financial declaration showed similar income, but incorrectly calculated his taxes based upon his monthly business gross revenue rather than upon his net revenue after the deduction of \$11,000 in normal business expenses. Thus it calculated his net after tax income lower than it should have been at \$3,543 per month. The trial court however erred by failing to deduct any mandatory taxes to derive his net income. (CP 44).

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