NO. 73508-0-I

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION I**

ERIC R. SHIBLEY,

Appellant,

v.

TINA M. SHIBLEY,

Respondent.

2016 FEB 29 PM 4:54
STATE OF WASHINGTON
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION I

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Elizabeth A. Helm, WSBA #23840
NORTHWEST JUSTICE PROJECT
401 Second Ave S. Suite 407
Seattle, Washington 98104
Tel. (206) 464-1519
bethh@nwjustice.org
Attorney for Respondent

Kimberly E. Loges, WSBA #45502
Loges Law, PLLC
1752 NW Market St. #705
Seattle, WA 98107
kel@logeslaw.com
Attorney for Respondent

ORIGINAL

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

The trial court noted in its oral ruling that Eric frustrated the process of finding appropriate help for Ryan. OD 4. He repeatedly placed Ryan in situations where he witnessed his father's explosive anger toward women. OD 4. He placed Ryan in danger when he left him in a hot car

while he went into the post office. OD 4. He failed to adequately supervise Ryan at work. OD 4. He placed Ryan into multiple day cares. OD 8-9. He exposed Ryan to his angry outbursts against his mother, and other women. OD 4. He failed to provide financial support even after the temporary child support order was entered. OD 5. The GAL noted, and the court found that Tina was taking demonstrable steps to responsibly take care of her own needs and those of Ryan. OD 2-9. Tina is self-reflective, eagerly seeks out help, and is not afraid to acknowledge her shortcomings. OD 3. Tina is open and aware of Ryan's emotional and developmental needs, she has a mature support system, and she has shown that she can and will use positive parenting techniques. OD 3.

Eric argues the court did not properly weigh the statutory factors under RCW 26.09.187 for entry of a permanent parenting plan. In re Marriage of Kovacs, 121 Wn.2d 795, 854 P.2d 629 (1993). Specifically, he points to subsection "(i) the relative strength, nature and stability of the child's relationship with each parent, including whether a parent has taken greater responsibility for parenting functions relating to the child's daily needs" and subsection "(iii) each parents potential for the future performance of parenting functions." He again reargues the facts of the case, finding facts to support his argument, but he fails to show why the court, in considering the facts it did, erred.

The court made clear findings to support its decision in the final Parenting Plan and the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. CP 5, 26. The court considered numerous factors in its decision, including the past performance of parenting functions and each parent's potential for future performance of parenting functions.

The court found Tina best suited to be the primary residential parent for Ryan. CP 26. The court found Eric neglected parenting functions and engaged in abusive use of conflict. CP 5-6.

2. The trial court acted within its discretion when it identified specific areas of sole decision making.

The court added several areas of sole decision making to the three major decision making categories: non-emergency medical, education, and religion. Generally, as Eric points out, a court cannot, absent agreement of the parties, designate decision making for areas other than those three categories. However, under RCW 26.09.191(3) the court may "preclude or limit any provisions of the parenting plan" if it finds a basis for limitations under that section. The court found that Eric neglected parenting functions and engaged in abusive use of conflict. CP 5. Eric himself testified that the parties could not communicate. RP 928. He refused to communicate with Tina about Ryan's health care or therapy. RP 1108-1116. Therefore, it was an appropriate exercise of the court's discretion to limit Eric's

involvement in other areas of decision making beyond the standard major decisions.

B. The trial court properly exercised its discretion when it awarded the wife 90% of the value of the precious metals.

A property division made during the dissolution of a marriage will be reversed on appeal only if there is a manifest abuse of discretion. In re Marriage of Kraft, 119 Wn.2d 438, 450, 832 P.2d 871 (1992). “A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons.” In re Marriage of Littlefield, 133 Wn.2d 39, 46–47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997). In re Marriage of Muhammad, 153 Wn.2d 795, 803, 108 P.3d 779, 783 (2005). The overarching concern of appellate review is whether the property division was fair and equitable. RCW 26.09.080 requires the trial court to make a “just and equitable” distribution of the parties’ property and liabilities. In re Marriage of Wright, 78 Wn. App. 230, 234, 896 P.2d 735 (1995).³

The appellant asserts that the court’s decision must reflect all the statutory factors set forth in RCW 26.09.080. In contrast to his position, the statute sets forth a **non-exclusive** list of factors to be considered, including the nature and extent of the community property, the nature and

³ See also, Lucker v. Lucker, 71 Wn.2d 165, 426 P.2d 981 (1967) and Mayo v. Mayo, 75 Wn.2d 36, 38, 448 P.2d 926, 927-28 (1968).

extent of the separate property, duration of the marriage and the resulting economic circumstances of the parties when the property is divided. RCW 26.09.080, In re Marriage of Crosetto, 82 Wn. App. 545, 556, 918 P.2d 954 (1996). The trial court in this case explicitly considered the nature and extent of the separate property and community property in its oral decision when discussing the property division. OD 10-11. It made findings with respect to the distribution of property. CP 22-23. While not enumerated specifically in its findings, the trial court clearly considered the circumstances of the marriage, both past and present, and evaluated the future needs of the parties in its oral ruling not only when discussing the property division but also with respect to child support and maintenance. OD 13-17. It also considered Eric's financial intransigence when he sold, or claimed to have sold, the precious metals at a discounted rate in violation of the temporary order. OD 12, CP 22. The court found the value to be the purchase price rather than the discounted sales price. CP 22.

The parties and the court treated the precious metals as divisible property even though Eric testified that he sold part of them. RP 1407. The parties and the trial court treated the property as divisible even though it may have been sold prior to trial. Eric has not raised this issue in his appeal. An issue not raised in appeal is waived. "The failure to assign

error or to provide argument and citation of legal authority in support of an assignment of error, as required by RAP 10.3, will preclude appellate consideration of alleged error or correction of allegedly improper action.” In re Dependency of Chubb, 112 Wn.2d 719, 726, 773 P.2d 851, 854 (1989).

A dissolution requires an equitable division of property. RCW 26.09.080. “An equitable division of property does not require mathematical precision, but rather fairness, based upon a consideration of all the circumstances in the marriage, both past and present, and an evaluation of the future needs of the parties.” In re Marriage of Rink, 18 Wn. App. 549, 553, 571 P.2d 210 (1977) (citing In re Marriage of Clark, 13 Wn. App. 805, 538 P.2d 145(1975), review denied, 86 Wn.2d 1001 (1975)). In a dissolution proceeding, the trial court “has practically unlimited power over the property, when exercised with reference to the rights of the parties and their children.” In re Marriage of Kowalewski, 163 Wn.2d 542, 182 P.3d 959 (2008), citing Arneson v. Arneson, 38 Wn.2d 99, 102, 227 P.2d 1016 (1951).

Eric argues that the court erred when it used the purchase price for the precious metals, rather than a fair market price. Neither party provided evidence of fair market value during the trial. Eric claimed to have sold

some or all of the precious metals at a discounted price, not a fair market price RP 1407. The court found the precious metals were sold at a discounted rate. Neither Mayo nor Lucker speaks to the action the trial court took in this case: to use purchase price rather than the discounted sale price. The trial court found Eric to have sold the precious metals in violation of the restraining order.

Additionally, Eric argues the court erred because it disregarded the parties' stipulation about the precious metals. He does not assign error to the court's findings and offers only a conclusory argument that the court was bound to the parties' agreement, unsupported by authority.⁴ Appellate rules require that a party set forth assignments of error and issues pertaining to those assignments of error. RAP 10.3. Eric did not. The rules also require "argument in support of the issues presented for review, together with citations to legal authority and references to relevant parts of the record." RAP 10.3 (a)(6). The appellate court generally does not consider argument that is unsupported by legal authority. RAP 10.3, Emmerson v. Weilep 126 Wn. App. 930, 110 P.3d 214 (2005) review

⁴ RAP 10.3(a)(3) requires that an appellant state concisely each error; however, RAP 1.2(a) calls for a liberal interpretation of the rules. Viereck v. Fibreboard Corp. 81 Wn. App. 579, 915 P.2d 581 (1996), review denied, 130 Wn.2d 1009, 928 P.2d 414. It is not the lack of an assignment of error that is objected to here, it is the lack of citation to any authority to support his contention that the court was not within its discretion to set aside the stipulation.

denied 155 Wn.2d 1026, 126 P.3d 820. The appellate court generally does not consider conclusory arguments that are unsupported by citation to be authority. Joy v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 170 Wn. App. 614, 629, 285 P.3d 187, 194–95 (2012). Passing treatment of an issue or lack of reasoned argument is insufficient to merit judicial consideration. West v. Thurston County, 168 Wn. App. 162, 187, 275 P.3d 1200 (2012) (quoting Holland v. City of Tacoma, 90 Wn. App. 533, 538, 954 P.2d 290 (1998)). Brownfield v. City of Yakima, 178 Wn. App. 850, 875-76, 316 P.3d 520, 534 (2014).

Furthermore, the Washington Supreme Court held that a trial court is not bound by the parties' stipulation in a family law matter. Munroe v. Munroe, 27 Wn. 2d 556, 561, 178 P.2d 983, 986 (1947). The court's disposition of property will not be disturbed by the appellate court absent a manifest abuse of discretion. Mayo at 561. Eric has not shown an abuse of discretion.

The fact Eric disposed of property in violation of a restraining order is the kind of misconduct a court may consider when making a disposition of property. RCW 26.09.080 provides that the court shall dispose of the property of the parties, "without regard to misconduct." RCW 26.09.080, however, "refers to immoral or physically abusive

conduct within the marital relationship and does not encompass gross fiscal improvidence [or] the squandering of marital assets [.]” In re Marriage of Wallace, 111 Wn. App. 697, 708, 45 P.3d 1131, 1136 (2002) , citing In re Marriage of Steadman, 63 Wn. App. 523, 528, 821 P.2d 59 (1991). The authority upon which he relies has no bearing on his argument.⁵ As a result, his argument is unsupported by authority. See RAP 10.3, Joy at 629. The court found that Eric sold the precious metals in willful violation of the temporary order restraining the parties from disposing of marital assets. CP 22. The court properly exercised its discretion when it considered the financial misconduct of a party when dividing the property.

C. The trial court properly exercised its discretion when it ordered child support in excess of the standard calculation and when it made specific findings to support the decision.

Eric argues the court erred when it entered child support in excess of the standard calculation. A trial court’s decision regarding child support is reviewed for abuse of discretion. In re Marriage of Booth, 114 Wn.2d. 772, P.2d 519 (1990). Eric’s reliance on In re the Marriage of Leslie is

⁵ In re Marriage of Ayyad, 110 Wn. App. 462, 38 P.3d 1033 (1980) is a case dealing with child support and whether among other issues converted stock options are includible as income for purposes of calculating child support. Eric does not provide a specific cite to a page of the opinion, and it is unclear whether he meant to use this case to support his argument or whether it was cited in error.

inapposite. The court's ability to order child support at an amount greater than the standard calculation is not limited when the parent's incomes exceed the standard economic schedule. In re Marriage of Leslie, 90 Wn. App. 796, 954 P.2d 330 (1998). The Leslie decision found the trial court "inappropriately narrowed the scope of inquiry and contravened legislative intent," declined to award what it considered an "upward deviation." Leslie at 804. Far from stating the court cannot order child support in excess of the standard calculation when the parties combined incomes exceed the maximum advisory level, Leslie found when a court determines that the combined monthly income exceeds the statutory economic table "a trial court is not limited to the maximum amount of support provided by the schedule. It is permitted to 'exceed' this amount upon written findings of fact." Leslie at 804.

The trial court in this case made written Findings of Fact in section 3.5 of the Order of Child Support. The Findings support the transfer payment in excess of the standard calculation because the parties' incomes exceeded \$12,000, as follows:

The court finds that the mother is unable to work full time due to a physical injury from which she is continuing to recover. The father is a physician whose income far exceeds the top threshold for support calculations, which income allows for a higher standard of living for the child

than that which would be obtained from the standard calculation. The child in this case is also in need of ongoing counseling and behavioral therapy, as well as educational support to reach the typical developmental level for his age. A transfer payment in excess of the standard calculation is just and necessary under the circumstances to assist the child in receiving that behavioral therapy and educational support. CP 887.

Additional findings specifically related to special medical, educational or psychological needs of the child were included in Section 3.7, the deviation section:

Eric Ryan Shibley is a child who has significant behavioral problems, and potentially undiagnosed ADHD and developmental delays. He has been receiving therapy from an unlicensed therapist for the past 12 months in violation of the court's orders relating to joint decision making between the parties relative to medical treatment. The child has been placed in numerous drop in day cares by the father, and several longer term day cares and pre-schools by the mother. He has been expelled from one or more of those day cares due to his violent, out of control behavior. The court finds that the lack of stability in his life, along with the high conflict of the parties during this dissolution proceeding, has exacerbated the stress on this child and that he is in need of therapy and treatment per the recommendation of his physician, Dr. Shushan. CP 888.

These findings were not cursory, and comport with the Daubert/Rusch factors addressed in McCausland when the court concluded they must be considered by a court when ordering child support in excess of the economic table. In re Marriage of McCausland, 159 Wn.2d 607, 620, 152 P.2d 1013 (2007) , citing In re Marriage of Daubert

and Johnson, 124 Wn. App. 483, 495-96, 99 P.3d 401 (2004) and Rusch v. Rusch, 124 Wn. App. 226, 233, 98 P.3d 1216 (2004). Those specific factors include, “(1) the parent’s standard of living, and (2) the children’s special medical, educational, or financial needs, when entering its written findings of fact. McCausland at 620. McCausland additionally does not limit the court’s consideration of the above factors, but sets them out as a minimum. McCausland at 621. The court in this case did not specifically use the term Daubert/Rusch, but did state clearly that it considered “the factors” in reaching its decision on child support.⁶ OD 17.

Eric argues without reference to authority, the obligation to pay special child rearing expenses, uninsured medical expenses and the “standard calculation”⁷ limit the courts ability to order child support in excess of the standard calculation. He does not explain or offer any authority to support his argument. McCausland specifically authorizes the court to order child support in excess of the standard calculation upon written findings. McCausland at 620. The trial court made those specific findings in the Order of Child Support as noted above, and those findings

⁶ While court checked the box marked “deviation” in the Order of Child Support, it did not use the term deviation in its Oral Decision rather it noted that it was ordering child support in excess of the standard calculation. The order clearly includes detailed findings. The use of the term “deviation” should be considered harmless error because the court’s ruling comports with the requirements of Leslie and McCausland.

⁷ The amount of the standard calculation is presumed to pay for basic child related expenses such as housing, food, clothing, etc.

are consistent with the Daubert/Rusch factors referenced in McCausland. These findings are further explained in the Oral Decision. OD 17.

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